MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

BETWEEN

THE TOWN OF COLMA

AND

THE COLMA POLICE COMMUNICATIONS/RECORDS ASSOCIATION

December 25, 2021 - June 30, 2024

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE AND INTENT
ARTICLE 2 - REPRESENTATION
ARTICLE 3 - RIGHTS RESERVED
ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT OBLIGATIONS
ARTICLE 5 - SEVERABILITY
ARTICLE 6 - WAIVER
ARTICLE 7 - MAINTENANCE OF BENEFITS
ARTICLE 8 - DURATION AND RENEWAL4
ARTICLE 9 - WORK PERIOD AND HOURS4
ARTICLE 10 - STAFFING LEVELS4
ARTICLE 11 - SHIFT SELECTION4
ARTICLE 12 - SHIFT EXCHANGE5
ARTICLE 13 - SALARIES5
ARTICLE 14 - OVERTIME AND COMPENSATORY PAY6
ARTICLE 15 - HOLIDAY PAY7
ARTICLE 16 - LEAVES 8
ARTICLE 17 - REIMBURSEMENTS9
ARTICLE 18 - RETIREMENT, HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS10
ARTICLE 19 - PAYROLL ERRORS16
ARTICLE 20 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE16
ARTICLE 21 - SAFETY VESTS16
ARTICLE 22 - DEFINITIONS16
ARTICLE 23 - TRANSITION

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

[See Article 22 for definitions]

ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE AND INTENT

- A. It is the intent and purpose of the parties that this Memorandum of Understanding shall set forth rules of pay, hours of work, and other terms and conditions of employment to be observed by the parties in connection with the Police Clerical/Dispatching Employees Unit. The provisions of this Memorandum of Understanding shall apply only to the Members of the Police Clerical/Dispatching Employees Unit (Member) and shall in no way establish terms and conditions of employment of other employees of the Town of Colma who are not Members of that Unit. The classifications included in that Unit are Police Dispatcher/Clerk and Police Dispatch/Records Supervisor. This agreement has been developed in the interest of promoting and improving employee relations between the Town of Colma (hereinafter referred to as the Town) and the Colma Police Communications/Records Association (hereinafter referred to as the Association).
- B. This Memorandum is entered into pursuant to the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act (GOVERNMENT CODE sections 3500, et seq.) and Subchapter 3.09 of the Administrative Code of the Town.

ARTICLE 2 - REPRESENTATION

- A. The Town hereby recognizes the Association as the Recognized Employee Organization to act as bargaining agent for the Police Clerical/Dispatching Employees Unit.
- B. The Town shall deduct the Association dues from the Members' pay checks and transmit such monies to the duly authorized and designated employee organization representative or by direct deposit to the Association's bank account.

ARTICLE 3 - RIGHTS RESERVED

- A. The Association recognizes that the Town has and will continue to retain, whether exercised or not, the unilateral and exclusive right to operate, administer and manage its municipal services and work force performing those services in all respects subject to this Memorandum.
- B. The City Manager and Police Chief have and will continue to retain exclusive decision-making authority on matters not officially and expressly modified by specific provisions of this Memorandum and such decision-making shall not be subject in any way, directly or indirectly, to the grievance procedure contained herein.
- C. The exclusive rights of the Town shall include, but not be limited to, the right to determine the organization of Town government and the purpose and mission of its constituent agencies, to set standards of service to be offered to the public, and through its management officials to exercise control and discretion over its organization and operations, to establish and effect Administrative Regulations and Employment Rules and Regulations consistent with law and the specific provisions of this Memorandum to direct its employees, to take disciplinary

action for just cause, to relieve its employees from duty because of lack of work or for other legitimate reasons, to determine whether goods or services shall be made, purchased or contracted for, to determine the methods, means and personnel by which the Town's services are to be provided, including the right to schedule and assign work and overtime, and to otherwise act in the interest of efficient service to the community.

ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT OBLIGATIONS

The Town shall, at its own expense, provide to every Member a copy of this Memorandum and all rules, regulations, general and special orders.

ARTICLE 5 - SEVERABILITY

If any article or section of this Memorandum of Understanding or if any chapter or section of the Town's Personnel Policies referred to in this Memorandum should be found invalid, unlawful, or unenforceable by reason of any existing or subsequent enacted legislation by a court of competent jurisdiction, all other articles and sections of this Memorandum shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of this Memorandum. In the event of invalidation of any article or section, the Town and Association may negotiate regarding that section or article on the anniversary of this Memorandum as provided by Article 8. However, in the event the legislation or decision referred to above affects wages, hours or working conditions, the Town and Association agree to meet and confer within sixty days of the effective date of the legislation or decision to renegotiate said article or section.

ARTICLE 6 - WAIVER

The parties acknowledge that, during the negotiations which resulted in this agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject or matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining, and that the understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this agreement. Therefore, the Town and the Association, for the life of this agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter referred to or covered in this agreement (except as provided in Article 5), even though such subject or matter may not have been within the knowledge and contemplation of either or both parties at the time they negotiated or signed this agreement. However, in the event the Police Chief, the City Manager or the City Council imposes a change in policy regarding the Association which substantially affects wages, hours or other terms and conditions of employment not covered by this Memorandum of Understanding, the Association may request that the Town meet and confer regarding that change.

ARTICLE 7 - MAINTENANCE OF BENEFITS

A. The status of all existing benefits and conditions of employment now enjoyed by classifications represented by the Association shall not be deemed affected by this agreement, except as specifically modified by provisions of this Memorandum.

B. Except as expressly stated in this Memorandum, where this Memorandum refers to a benefit in the Town's Personnel Policies, that benefit may only be modified by the Town after meeting and conferring with the Association.

ARTICLE 8 - DURATION AND RENEWAL

Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, this Memorandum of Understanding shall run from December 25, 2021, to June 30, 2024. It shall be automatically renewed from year to year thereafter, with no scheduled salary increases, unless either party shall have notified the other, in writing, at least sixty days prior to the expiration date that it desires to modify the Memorandum of Understanding. In the event that such notice is given, negotiations shall begin within thirty days of delivery of the notice of intent to modify the Memorandum of Understanding.

ARTICLE 9 - WORK PERIOD AND HOURS

The work period established for Members is a regularly recurring period of forty hours in seven consecutive days beginning at 00:01 each Sunday and ending at 24:00 the following Saturday.

ARTICLE 10 - STAFFING LEVELS

- A. The Police Chief shall determine the minimum staffing levels on each work shift.
- B. Open shifts may or may not be filled, depending on the ongoing safety of department personnel. If the Police Chief or his/her designee decides to fill the open shift, this will be implemented without the use of overtime, whenever possible. This may include altering the normal work shift of Members to reduce or eliminate the need for overtime. When overtime must be used to fill an open shift, it will be filled by seniority, with the first choice going to the senior Member of the Association.
 - (1) Open shifts are designated as any/all hours which need coverage by an employee due to sick leave, vacation, CTO, LOA, paid family leave, training and any other open hours.
 - (2) Open shifts are defined as the normally scheduled hours for the shift had the Member on leave actually worked it.

ARTICLE 11 - SHIFT SELECTION

- A. Members will sign up for shifts by seniority for a one year time frame (January through December). The Police Chief or his designee may assign a Member to an alternate shift at any time for the good of the organization.
- B. In order to avoid miscommunication, the Police Dispatch/Records Supervisor will notify the Police Dispatcher/Clerk in person, by phone, or by official schedule change form to be initialed by employee, of changes they feel are necessary in the hours of the monthly schedule. (Days off will not be changed unless an emergency exists, or unless the employee volunteers to make changes.) Every effort will be made to notify the employee as soon as the need is

recognized for a shift change. Messages left on answering devices or notes left in Member's boxes shall not be considered adequate by themselves.

- C. In the interests of Supervisor-Member relations all attempts will be made to seek volunteers when changes in the schedule are necessary.
- D. Changes in a Member's schedule shall not be used as a disciplinary action, bonus or an incentive. However, if after a sustained personnel investigation it is determined that a change in the schedule is necessary, that change can be made at the discretion of the Police Chief.

ARTICLE 12 - SHIFT EXCHANGE

- A. All Members may be permitted to substitute for another during scheduled work hours, as herein provided. Trading shall be limited to one shift in any consecutive thirty days and any Member requesting a trade shall submit a written request to the Chief or designee seven days prior to the first day of the trade. No trade shall be made unless the Chief or designee approves the trade in writing. The traded shift shall be paid back within the same thirty days. This shift trading is strictly voluntary on the part of Members and is for their benefit, not the benefit of the Town. The Town shall exclude the hours worked as a substitute in calculating overtime.
- B. Once the exchange has been signed by both Members and approved by the Police Chief or his or her designee, it will be the responsibility of the person agreeing to work the shift to cover that shift.

ARTICLE 13 - SALARIES

- A. Effective in the first pay period beginning after the Council ratifies this MOU, the Town shall pay each Member an amount determined by multiplying the number of hours worked in a pay period by the applicable hourly base rate of pay shown for the Member in Appendix A.
- B. FICA and PERS Member Contributions

Each Member shall pay the employee share of FICA (Social Security and Medicare) taxes and the employee's contributions to the Public Employees Retirement System (PERS).

- C. Training Differential
 - (1) The Town shall pay a Member who is assigned to train new clerk/dispatchers, Officers or per diem employees an additional five percent differential of his or her base rate as shown in Appendix A for actual hours worked as a Trainer in one-half hour increments.
 - (2) Members may be required to provide orientation for new employees provided that such orientation responsibilities do not exceed one hour per day. No additional compensation shall be paid for performing orientation duties under this paragraph.

(3) The Police Chief or his or her designee shall have discretion to make all training assignments.

D. CAD Administration Incentive

- (1) The Town shall pay a Member who is assigned duties of CAD system administration an additional five percent (5%) of his or her base pay as shown in Appendix A and shall pay the Member who is assigned backup CAD system administration duties an additional two and one half percent (2.5%) of his or her base pay.
- (2) The Police Chief or his or her designee shall have discretion to make CAD system administration assignments.

E. Retention Pay

Effective in the first pay period beginning after Council ratification of this Agreement, eligible Members may begin to receive Retention Pay in the amount of 2.5% for continuous 10 years of Town of Colma service, and an additional 2.5% for 20 years of continuous Town of Colma service, to a combined maximum of 5% Retention Pay. The percentage of Retention Pay shall be calculated on the Members base pay (not including incentive pay or any other differential pay). After the effective date above, Members are eligible for Retention Pay beginning in the first pay period following their anniversary date in which the employee meets its 10 year or 20 year of continuous Town service. For purposes of this section, "continuous" service shall include Town-approved leaves of absence and other leaves required by law.

ARTICLE 14 - OVERTIME AND COMPENSATORY PAY

- A. Members will be routinely scheduled to work forty hours in a seven-day work period. Members will receive overtime when a Member has worked in excess of forty hours during the seven-day work period, subject to the provisions below. For purposes of this section, holiday as listed under Article 15(B), vacation leave that was scheduled and approved at least twenty-eight (28) days prior to the date taken off, sick leave, bereavement leave and training hours will count towards hours worked. Vacation leave not scheduled and approved at least twenty-eight (28) days prior to the date taken off, administrative leave and compensatory time used will not count as hours worked for purposes of this section.
 - (1) Overtime must be approved in advance by the Police Chief or Designee.
 - (2) The overtime pay rate will be paid as defined in the FLSA.
 - (3) All overtime worked which is less than one hour increments in a work shift shall be compensated in fifteen-minute increments.
- B. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Member may, in his or her sole discretion, take or bank Compensatory Time Off at the rate of one and one-half hours for each hour of overtime worked. A Member's Compensatory Time Leave Bank will be established with a maximum leave balance of eighty hours.

- C. A Member who is subpoenaed to testify on his or her day off at any judicial, civil or administrative hearing, including but not limited to Superior Court, Municipal Court, Traffic Court, DMV hearing, civil deposition or parole hearing, on a matter arising out of the Member's course and scope of employment, shall earn overtime as follows:
 - (1) While at the place of the hearing, the Member shall earn overtime from the time first required to be there until the time released, except for meal breaks. The Member will be paid for only one block of time in a day, regardless of the number of matters that may require the Member's appearance. Except for the circumstances described in paragraphs (2) and (3), the Member will earn a minimum of four hours of overtime for the day.
 - (2) If placed on telephone standby by the District Attorney, the Member shall earn two hours of overtime for all time on standby. If the Member is called to court, he or she will receive overtime from the time first required to be there until the time released, except for meal breaks. The Member called to court will receive court overtime in lieu of standby overtime. In all cases, Members must have authorization from a supervisor prior to accepting the telephone standby.
 - (3) When a Member is required to be at the place of the hearing within four hours prior to his or her shift, the Member shall earn overtime from the time first required to be at the hearing until the beginning of his or her scheduled shift, except for meal breaks. When a Member is required to be at the place of the hearing within one hour after his or her shift, the Member shall earn overtime from the end of his or her shift until the time released, except for meal breaks.
 - (4) While testifying by telephone, Members shall earn overtime for the time the Member is required to be on the telephone.
- D. A Member who is called to work within four hours of the start of his or her shift will receive at least one hour of regular pay, if actual time worked is less than one hour, and overtime pay, if actual hours worked or counted as worked in a work period exceed forty hours.
- E. A Member, who is called to work on his or her day off, or after having been relieved of duty for the day at least one hour prior, shall earn overtime for the time the Member is called back, with a minimum of four hours of overtime. If the callback shift exceeds four hours, the Member will be compensated overtime on an hour for hour basis after the first four hours.
- F. All training scheduled on a Member's day off will be compensated on an hour for hour basis and overtime pay, if actual hours worked or counted as worked in a work period exceed forty hours.

ARTICLE 15 - HOLIDAY PAY

A. In lieu of holiday pay, Members will be paid additional compensation at the rate of five percent of his or her base hourly rate of pay according to his or her classification as shown in salary tables above for all hours except overtime. Said compensation shall be paid at the same

time and manner as the Member is usually paid his or her salary, without regard for the number of holidays occurring or worked during the pay period and will be included in the FLSA overtime calculation. This policy is in lieu of the holiday schedule and holiday leave policy set forth in the Town's Personnel Policies

- B. Until the Town converts to twenty-four (24) hours dispatching, the Dispatch Center will be closed on the following days. Employees will receive eight hours straight time pay for the following three days.
 - (a) New Year's Day
 - (b) Thanksgiving Day
 - (c) December 25th

ARTICLE 16 - LEAVES

A. Vacation Leave

- (1) Sign up for vacation periods for the upcoming calendar year shall be completed by December 31. Any Member who has not signed up for all vacation time he or she is entitled to by midnight on December 31 shall lose all priority he or she is entitled to because of higher seniority.
- (2) A Member may accrue unused vacation time up to two times the number of hours the Member may earn in one year. For example, a Member with two years of service may accrue up to one hundred-sixty (160) hours of unused vacation time while a Member with more than fifteen years of service may accrue up to four hundred (400) hours.
- (3) Once a Member has accrued the maximum number of unused vacation hours set forth in Article 16A(2) above, the Member shall not earn any additional vacation hours until vacation is utilized to bring the amount of accrued vacation below the applicable cap or vacation is cashed out as permitted by this policy.
- 4) A Member may cash out a portion of his/her accrued vacation hours in accordance with Town's Personnel Policies.

B. Personnel Leave

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town's Personnel Policies regarding Leaves:

- (1) Members will accrue sick leave at a rate of eight hours per month.
- (3) Upon separation of employment with the Town, a Member is not entitled to be paid for his or her accrued and unused sick leave except as follows:
 - a. a Member hired prior to or on July 1, 2019 who is eligible for and who has

applied for retirement under the California Public Employees Retirement System within sixty days of separation from the Town may, at the Member's option, convert unused and accrued sick leave to additional PERS service credit or be paid for unused and accrued sick leave, provided that the number of hours to be converted or paid shall not exceed one thousand forty (1,040) hours.

- b. a Member hired after July 1, 2019 who is eligible for and who has applied for retirement under the California Public Employees Retirement System within sixty (60) days of separation from the Town may, at the Member's option, convert unused and accrued sick leave to additional PERS service credit provided that the number of hours to be converted shall not exceed 1,040 hours. Accrued but unused sick leave shall have no cash value at separation for such Members.
- (3) Nothing herein shall prevent a Member from accruing sick leave beyond one thousand forty (1,040) hours and, while employed, taking paid sick from the total amount of accrued sick leave in accordance with the Town's Sick Leave Policy.
- C. The Town will administer Family Leave in accordance with state and federal law.

ARTICLE 17 - REIMBURSEMENTS

- A. Uniform and Equipment Allowance
 - (1) The Town agrees to pay to full-time Members a uniform allowance. The amount of the annual allowance shall be seven hundred, seventy-four dollars and seventy-three cents (\$774.73). Payment of the uniform allowance shall be paid a pro-rata amount on each paycheck (for example \$774.73 divided by 26 = \$29.80 per pay period). A one-time payment shall be issued on the next regular pay period after ratification of this MOU which shall equal to amounts earned March 1, 2016 to the date of contract ratification. This uniform allowance is not CalPERS reportable compensation for Members hired on or after January 1, 2013, who were never members of a public employee retirement system or who had a break in service of more than six months.
 - (2) The Town shall provide, at the Town's own expense, new full-time Members an initial uniform consisting of the items determined by the Chief and approved by the City Manager.
- B. Damage to Personal Property and Uniforms
 - (1) The Town shall reimburse a Member for damage to uniforms that are damaged during duty hours or while stored in their locker at a Town facility, providing that the Member made a reasonable effort to safeguard the uniform. This reimbursement shall be made on approval of the Police Chief.
 - (2) The Town shall reimburse a Member for damage of personal property in the performance of his/her duty, subject to the following restrictions:

- (a) The maximum reimbursement for items of personal property necessity such as eye glasses and hearing aids shall be two hundred dollars (\$200.00).
- (b) The maximum reimbursement for the damage of all other personal property shall be fifty dollars (\$50.00).
- (c) Requests for reimbursement for the damage of personal property must be made within the shift in which the damage occurs.
- (d) Reimbursement of damaged property must be approved by the Police Chief.

C. Tuition Reimbursement

Regular, full-time Members shall be entitled to the Tuition Reimbursement benefits as described in the Town's Personnel Policies.

ARTICLE 18 - RETIREMENT, HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS

A. PERS Retirement

(1) Classic – Tier One Hired before August 1, 2012

Members hired before August 1, 2012, that are enrolled in the California Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) shall receive a retirement allowance under the "2.5% at 55 Modified," formula, One-Year Final Compensation retirement plan, to the extent provided by law.

(2) Classic – Tier Two Hired on or after August 1, 2012

Members hired on or after August 1, 2012, including Members hired on or after January 1, 2013 who are not classified as "new members" (as defined in Gov't Code 7522.04(f)) under Public Employees' Pension Reform Act (PEPRA), that are enrolled in PERS shall receive a retirement allowance under the "2% at 60 Modified" formula, Three-Year Final Compensation retirement plan, to the extent provided by law.

(3) PEPRA - Hired on or after January 1, 2013

Members hired on or after January 1, 2013, who are classified as "new members" (as defined in Gov't Code 7522.04(f)) under PEPRA, that are enrolled in PERS shall receive a retirement allowance under the "2% @ 62 formula", Three-Year Final Compensation retirement plan, to the extent provided by law.

(4) Each Member shall contribute to PERS the employee's rate of contribution required by law relevant to his/her retirement formula, as may be amended from time to time by the State of California. The Member does not have the right to directly receive the Member's PERS contribution in lieu of payment to PERS. The Town shall contribute

all other costs and contributions necessary to implement this plan. If the Employer's contribution required by PERS increases over the present contribution, the Town shall pay the increase; if the Employer's contribution decreases, the Town shall keep the savings.

B. Deferred Compensation Plan

As to any Member who participates in the Town's deferred compensation plan, the Town will pay a sum equal to the amount withheld from salary by the Member and contributed to the Plan, up to one hundred dollars (\$100) per month. The City Manager may establish reasonable rules and procedures for implementing this plan. If the additional sum contributed by the Town causes the Member's contribution to exceed the maximum amount allowed under federal law as deferred compensation, then such sum shall be reported as taxable income of the Member.

C. Dental, Vision, and Life Insurances

Dental, vision, and life insurance are as provided in the Town's Personnel Policies, except that:

(1) Members hired on or after January 1, 2010, will not receive Town-paid dental benefits upon retirement. Members hired prior to January 1, 2010, will continue to receive Town-paid dental benefits upon retirement to the same extent as other miscellaneous Town employees.

D. Medical Insurance

(1) <u>PEMHCA Minimum Contribution</u>

The Town contracts with PERS pursuant to the Public Employees Medical and Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA) for the purpose of providing eligible Members, dependents and annuitants with access to medical insurance. The Town shall revise its current PEMHCA contract with CalPERS through the adoption of a new PEMHCA resolution to provide that the Town shall pay to PERS, on behalf of each eligible active Member and each retired Member who qualifies for retiree medical benefits, a monthly employer contribution equal to the minimum contribution required under Section 22892(b)(2) of PEMHCA (PEMHCA Minimum). This amount is established by CalPERS and may change annually.

Pursuant to PEMHCA and relevant PERS regulations, a retired Member will qualify for retiree medical benefits if his or her retirement from the Town is effective within 120 days of his or her separation from employment with the Town and the retired Member receives a retirement allowance from CalPERS resulting from his or her service with the Town (Annuitant). Annuitants are eligible to continue health coverage under PEMHCA. An Annuitant will receive the PEMHCA Minimum regardless of hire date.

Supplemental benefits will be provided to Active Members and Annuitants in accordance with the terms set forth in Sections (2), (3) and (4) below.

(2) Supplemental Benefit for Active Members

The Town offers an Internal Revenue Code Section 125 Plan (Plan) which contains premium conversion, health care reimbursement and dependent care reimbursement as available benefits. The availability of the Plan is contingent on compliance with State and Federal rules and regulations. The Town and Association agree to meet and confer if any part of the Plan is found to be noncompliant regarding a replacement provision. In addition to the PEMHCA Minimum, the Town contributes for eligible Active Members an additional amount to be used to pay for premiums for Health Insurance Coverage through the Plan. The amount of the additional monthly contribution for each Active Member's PERS health insurance premium is based on the date of hire. An Active Member may not use the contribution for other reasons.

(i) Active Members Hired Prior to June 1, 2010 (Tier A)

Active Members hired prior to June 1, 2010, will receive a contribution under the Plan equal to the full cost of the PERS health plan selected, for which he or she and his or her dependents are eligible and enrolled, minus the PEMHCA minimum contribution.

The Town may not require Tier A Active Members to pay or contribute premiums for medical or hospital insurance unless the Town has first met with and obtained the agreement of the Association.

(ii) Active Members Hired on or after June 1, 2010 but on or before June 30, 2012 (Tier B)

Active Members hired on or after June 1, 2010 and on or before June 30, 2012, will receive a contribution under the Plan equal to the cost of the PERS health plan in which he or she and his or her dependents are eligible and enrolled but not to exceed the cost of second most costly plan offered by CalPERS, minus the PEMHCA Minimum. Members may select enrollment in a plan that exceeds the maximum Employer contribution and the difference in cost will be paid by the Member through payroll deductions.

(iii) Active Members Hired on or after July 1, 2012 but on or before December 31, 2016 (Tier C)

Active Members hired on or after July 1, 2012 and on or before December 31, 2016, will receive a contribution under the Plan in the same amount and manner as Active Members described in Tier B (section ii) above.

(iv) Active Members Hired on or after January 1, 2017 (Tier D)

Active Members hired on or after January 1, 2017, will receive a contribution under the Plan in the same amount and manner as Active Members described in Tier B (section ii) above.

(3) <u>Supplemental Benefit for Annuitants Originally Hired Before January 1, 2017</u>

In addition to the PEMHCA Minimum, each Annuitant hired by the Town on or before December 31, 2016 is eligible for an Employer contribution, as set forth below, to be used for reimbursement of additional medical costs under a Retiree Health Reimbursement Arrangement (HRA) established by the Employer. Receipt of Reimbursements may be made through a third-party administrator and subject to administrative requirements.

(i) Annuitants Who Were Originally Hired Prior to June 1, 2010 (Tier A)

Annuitants hired by the Town prior to June 1, 2010, will receive a monthly HRA contribution equal to the monthly cost of the PERS health plan selected, for which he or she and his or her dependents are eligible and enrolled, minus the PEMHCA Minimum.

The Town may not require Tier A Annuitants to pay or contribute premiums for medical or hospital insurance unless the Town has first met with and obtained the agreement of the Association.

(ii) Annuitants Who Were Originally Hired on or after June 1, 2010, but on or before June 30, 2012 (Tier B)

Annuitants hired by the Town on or after June 1, 2010, but on or before June 30, 2012, will receive an HRA contribution equal to the cost of the PERS health plan in which he or she and his or her dependents are eligible and enrolled but not to exceed the cost of second most costly plan offered by CalPERS, minus the PEMHCA Minimum.

(iii) Annuitants Who Were Originally Hired on or after July 1, 2012 but on or before December 31, 2016 (Tier C)

Annuitants hired by the Town on or after July 1, 2012, but on or before December 31, 2016, who have five years of service with the Town and at least ten years of total PERS service credit, will receive an HRA contribution equal to the "applicable percentage" of the cost of the PERS health plan in which he or she and his or her dependents are eligible and enrolled but not to exceed the cost of the second most costly plan offered by PERS, as adjusted by the "applicable percentage", minus the PEMHCA Minimum.

The "applicable percentage" shall be determined on the basis of the Annuitant's years of service (with a minimum of five years of service with the Town) pursuant to the following vesting schedule:

CREDITED YEARS OF SERVICE	APPLICABLE PERCENTAGE					
10	50%					
11	55%					
12	60%					
13	65%					
14	70%					
15	75%					
16	80%					
17	85%					
18	90%					
19	95%					
20 or More	100%					

Notwithstanding the preceding service requirement, the contribution payable by the Town shall be equal to 100 percent of the cost of the PERS health plan in which he or she and his or her dependents are eligible and enrolled but not to exceed the cost of second most costly plan offered by CalPERS, minus the PEMHCA Minimum, on behalf of any annuitant who retired for industrial disability.

This benefit is structured in accordance with the PERS statutory vesting schedule in Government Code Section 22893 such that Tier C Annuitants will receive retiree medical benefits calculated in accordance with the statutory vesting schedule and related provisions of Section 22893, as it may from time to time be amended, provided that only the PEMHCA Minimum will be paid directly to CalPERS and the remaining amount, as described in the first paragraph of this Section (D)(3)(iii), will be provided to Tier C Annuitants in the form of a reimbursement under the terms of the HRA.

(iv) Retiree Health Benefit Preserved in Event of Reinstatement and Subsequent Retirement

In accordance with AB 410 (2013), as codified in Government Code Section 22838, an Annuitant eligible for retiree health benefits pursuant to Section (D)(3)(i), (ii) or (iii) who reinstates from retirement may, upon his or her subsequent retirement, elect to enroll in a health benefit plan approved or maintained by CalPERS as an annuitant of the Town and receive the applicable benefit under Section (D)(3)(i), (ii) or (iii), if all of the following apply:

(a) The subsequent retirement occurs on or after January 1, 2014;

- (b) The Annuitant is eligible for retiree health coverage through the Town prior to reinstatement from retirement;
- (c) The subsequent retirement occurs within 120 days of separation; and
- (d) The retiree health contribution available from the Town is higher than the retiree health contribution from the employer through which the subsequent retirement occurs.

To the extent that the Town's conversion to the PEMHCA Minimum causes the requirement at (d) above to fail and, as a result, the Annuitant enrolls in a PERS health benefit plan through the subsequent employer, the Town shall cause the difference between the total benefit described in Section (D)(3)(i), (ii) or (iii), as applicable, and the retiree health benefit to which he or she is entitled under the subsequent employer, to be paid to the Annuitant in the form of a reimbursement under the HRA of substantiated expenses for a PERS health insurance plan in which he or she has enrolled.

(4) Retirement Health Savings Program (RHSP)

As soon as administratively possible, the Town will establish a Retirement Health Savings Program (RHSP). The RHSP will use a third-party administrator selected by the Town. The design of the RHSP is intended to be a tax advantaged savings plan to be used exclusively for qualifying medical expenses during retirement.

(i) Mandatory Participation - Members Hired on or after January 1, 2017

Members hired on or after January 1, 2017 receive a monthly Employer contribution to an individual account under the RHSP. The Town shall contribute to the Member's individual RHSP account an amount equivalent to one and one-half percent (1.5%) of the Member's monthly base salary as shown in the Town's adopted salary schedule. The base salary for the initial month of service and final month of service shall be prorated based on actual base salary paid in those months.

(ii) Optional Participation - Members Hired Prior to January 1, 2017

Members hired prior to January 1, 2017 may exercise a one-time irrevocable election and waiver as defined in the RHSP Plan Document. Any Member who elects to receive the RHSP benefit shall receive the same benefit as described in Section (D)(4)(i) above and will no longer receive the benefits in Section (D)(3) above.

D. Health Club Membership

Health Club Membership benefits are as provided in the Town's Personnel Policies.

E. Funeral Expenses

The Town shall pay fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000) to the executor, administrator or personal representative of the estate of, or to the trustee authorized to pay funeral expenses for, any Member killed in the line of duty.

ARTICLE 19 - PAYROLL ERRORS

- A. To ensure that system or other errors which affect a Members pay are processed in an efficient and effective manner, the Town shall notice the affected Member as soon as practicable.
- B. Payroll errors detected by a Member shall, as soon as practicable, be communicated to the City Manager, or his or her designee. In the case of under payment, the City Manager or his or her designee will process the appropriate adjustments as soon as practicable.
- C. Payroll errors identified by the City Manager or his or her designee will be communicated to the Member either directly or through the Police Chief.
- D. Under payments will be processed as soon as practicable.
- E. In the event of an overpayment, the City Manager or his or her designee will determine a reasonable repayment schedule and inform the Member of the schedule directly or through the Police Chief. The affected Member shall be given an opportunity to discuss the repayment schedule and, if necessary, to request a reasonable adjustment to it. Factors considered in determining a reasonable adjustment to the repayment schedule include but are not limited to, the Member's normal salary, and other financial obligations of the Member. The Town and the Association agree that the Town will use any and all legal remedies to recover any salary overpayment made to the Member from the Member's wages in the event that (1) the Member does not respond within five working days of being notified of the overpayment or (2) mutual agreement on the repayment schedule is not achieved within ten working days of the Member being notified of the overpayment.

ARTICLE 20 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

Grievance procedures are provided as stated in the Town's Personnel Policies.

ARTICLE 21 - SAFETY VESTS

The parties have met and conferred and agreed to the Town's Safety Vest Policy.

ARTICLE 22 - DEFINITIONS

As used in this Memorandum:

"Base rate" means the hourly rate of pay, by each job classification shown in the tables in Appendix A of this Memorandum.

"Personnel Policies" means the provisions, policies and regulations adopted by the City Council as Chapter Three of the Colma Administrative Code, or its successor, and the procedures and regulations adopted by the City Manager to implement the provisions of Chapter Three of the Colma Administrative Code or its successor.

Upon execution, this Memorandum of Understanding will supersede the Memorandum of

ARTICLE 23 - TRANSITION

Understanding between the partie 30, 2024.	s and for the period from December 25, 2020 through June
///	
///	
///	
///	
IN WITNESS WHEREOF:	
Dated	COLMA POLICE COMMUNICATIONS/RECORDS ASSOCIATION Docusigned by: By Monique kendrick Print Name and Title Amanda Velasquez Print Name and Title
Dated 12/16/2021	By Helen Fisicaro, Mayor Attest Pak Lin Administrative Services Director

Appendix A

BASE RATE SALARY TABLES

December 26, 2021 through June 25, 2022

Increased 2%

	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5
Police Dispatch/Records Supervisor	56.74	58.30	59.89	61.47	63.05
Police Dispatcher/Clerk	47.08	48.39	49.70	51.00	52.30

June 26, 2022 through December 24, 2022

Increased 2%

	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5
Police Dispatch/Records Supervisor	57.87	59.47	61.09	62.70	64.31
Police Dispatcher/Clerk	48.02	49.35	50.69	52.02	53.34

December 25, 2022 through June 24, 2023

Increased 2%

	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5
Police Dispatch/Records Supervisor	59.03	60.66	62.31	63.95	65.60
Police Dispatcher/Clerk	48.98	50.34	51.70	53.06	54.41

BASE RATE SALARY TABLES

June 25, 2023 through December 23, 2023

Increased 2%

	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5
Police Dispatch/Records Supervisor	60.21	61.87	63.56	65.23	66.91
Police Dispatcher/Clerk	49.96	51.34	52.74	54.12	55.49

December 24, 2023 through June 30, 2024

Increased 2%

	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5
Police Dispatch/Records Supervisor	61.41	63.11	64.83	66.54	68.25
Police Dispatcher/Clerk	50.96	52.37	53.79	55.20	56.60